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          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Good afternoon.

          3  This is Councilman Charles Barron.  I am Chair of

          4  the Higher Education Committee here in the City

          5  Council, and I am honored to have with me, one of

          6  the most consistent and dedicated members, Council

          7  Member Tony Avella, from Queens, and in my hearings

          8  you can give hand claps.  Give him a hand clap.  I

          9  can do these things.  Since I am in charge, we can

         10  do this.  But we have a very, very serious issue

         11  today to talk about.  Child care services in CUNY,

         12  and availability of child care services in CUNY, we

         13  think is a very, very important issue and something

         14  that we are going to do follow-up on to stay up on

         15  it because a lot of CUNY students, I understand

         16  about a quarter of the CUNY students, do have

         17  children and right now maybe only 2,600 are actually

         18  being serviced and maybe another 1,200 on a waiting

         19  list.  That certainly doesn't account for what's

         20  really needed.  Then there is about six point some

         21  odd million dollars from Fed, State and City.  So we

         22  want to make sure that this is not an issue that is

         23  not going to be monitored closely.  To make sure

         24  that every CUNY student, no matter what their

         25  situation, has an ability and opportunity to really
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          2  focus on their studies and have as much supportive

          3  services as possible.  With that, I am going to read

          4  my opening statement and then we'll get right into

          5  those who want to testify at the hearing.

          6                 Today, more than ever, students on

          7  college campuses are considered non-traditional

          8  students.  The non-traditional students have one or

          9  more of the following characteristics: They delayed

         10  enrollment into post-secondary education; they

         11  attend part time; they work full-time while

         12  enrolled; they have dependents other than a spouse,

         13  and they are a single parent.  Currently at CUNY,

         14  nearly half of the students enrolled work more than

         15  20 hours a week, a third are age 25 or older and

         16  almost a quarter of the students support children.

         17  Non- traditional students face a number of barriers

         18  during the process of completing their degrees.  One

         19  of those barriers is access to convenient and

         20  affordable child care services.  Without child care

         21  services many prospective students, student parents,

         22  are unable to enroll in college.  Additionally,

         23  student parents who do not attend college need

         24  access to affordable and convenient child care.

         25  Such access often determines if the student will be
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          2  able to complete their full studies, and obtain a

          3  college degree, or be forced to drop out in order to

          4  take care of their children.  CUNY offers child care

          5  programs on many of it's campuses.  Research

          6  indicates that the availability of convenient,

          7  affordable child care is a top concern of parents

          8  when making the decision to attend an institution of

          9  higher learning.  As the number of student parents

         10  continues to increase, the need for child care

         11  services will grow.  At today's hearing, the

         12  Committee on Higher Education will seek to learn

         13  more about the child care services offered on CUNY

         14  campuses and how University will endeavor to serve

         15  more students.  And we'll call forward now the CUNY

         16  administrative representatives.

         17                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Vice

         18  Chancellor Moore, Janet McIntosh, Heather Brown,

         19  Kerry- Ann Pieters.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: And I want to

         21  take this opportunity to thank Ms. Baaba Halm who is

         22  the Counsel for this Committee and Ms. Shauneequa

         23  Owusu who is the Policy Analyst for our Committee.

         24  And they both do such great work and come up great

         25  ideas for our Committee and you may proceed with
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          2  your testimony as she swears you in.

          3                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Please

          4  raise your right hands.  Do you swear that the

          5  testimony that you will provide today will be

          6  truthful and accurate?

          7                 (Witness sworn.)

          8                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: You may

          9  begin.

         10                 VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE: Thank you, Mr.

         11  Barron, for your distinguished interest in our

         12  university and the issues that certainly impact

         13  students entering our university, as well as staying

         14  at our university.  We sincerely appreciate that,

         15  and if you will permit me, Mr. Barron, I know you

         16  control the hand claps, but my staff and I would

         17  like to offer you and your staff, your committee a

         18  round of applause to thank you for addressing these

         19  issues.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: If you are going

         21  to do something like, I would appreciate the volume

         22  being just a little louder with the clapping.

         23                 VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE: That's all

         24  right.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you. Thank
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          2  you very much. I humbly thank you for that ovation.

          3                 VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE: Over the past

          4  several months, you have demonstrated your interest,

          5  and concern, and sensitivity on issues such as

          6  access for students with disabilities, intimate

          7  violence relationships, and international students

          8  issues where you have demonstrated further an

          9  understanding of the importance of our classroom,

         10  out of classroom experiences for our students.  I am

         11  encouraged by this recognition. And welcome your

         12  continued interest in these areas for the vital they

         13  play in the success of our students.

         14                 When we at CUNY talk about

         15  initiatives that promote student success, certainly

         16  one of the areas that come to mind is campus based

         17  child care.  Nationally, the relationship between

         18  the availability of quality and affordable campus

         19  based child care has been identified as critical for

         20  student success.

         21                 A recent report issued by the

         22  Workforce Strategy Center, an organization focused

         23  on innovative approaches to workforce development,

         24  reporting in December of 2006, emphasize that the

         25  fact is very clear, that the success of states'
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          2  economies will be based, among other things, on

          3  their ability to cultivate and retain the

          4  individuals who possess post- secondary educational

          5  credentials.  Key to this is providing more and

          6  better student services that will serve to improve

          7  student retention and completion rates.  Among these

          8  services, the report specifically mentions, the

          9  importance of child care for it's role for helping

         10  to alleviate family and personal needs that may

         11  hinder the success of our students.

         12                 As it stands, CUNY child care serves

         13  over twenty six hundred student parents and their

         14  children.  It provides work for over 280 employees

         15  and 120 family day care providers.  The majority

         16  present are former City University students, and we

         17  have trained over 1,450 family day care providers.

         18                 The presence of these centers is

         19  critical to the success of our students.  Data

         20  derived from studies on the impact of campus based

         21  child care and also from a study completed at one of

         22  CUNY's child care centers showed that number one, a

         23  strong relationship between the existence of campus

         24  based child care services and academic success of

         25  student parents is very evident. And number two,
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          2  that student parents report many supplemental

          3  benefits received from campus based child care

          4  services including helpful social interaction with

          5  peers and child care center staff serving in an

          6  advisory capacity and providing help with parenting

          7  problems.

          8                 In addition, studies have

          9  demonstrated that student parents who use campus

         10  based child care are more likely to remain in school

         11  and graduate in fewer years, and they demonstrate

         12  higher rates of persistence.  Parents indicate the

         13  availability of child care as critical to their

         14  decision to enroll in school.  The availability to

         15  affordable and quality child care has made a

         16  difference in the lives of many CUNY students and

         17  alumni.  Some of whom you will hear from later in

         18  this hearing.

         19                 CUNY child care programs are designed

         20  to accommodate the diverse and complex needs of our

         21  student parents.  On campus child care centers offer

         22  flexible hours including evenings and weekends  --

         23  including Saturdays and as part of the overall

         24  programming process because students take classes on

         25  Saturdays as well.  In fact, some of our campuses
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          2  offer classes on Sunday.  CUNY child care programs

          3  serve students and their children in developmentally

          4  appropriate and culturally diverse early childhood

          5  school age and infant toddler programs.  Services

          6  also include university pre- kindergarten, family

          7  and group day care homes.

          8                 All university child care programs

          9  are licensed, and evaluated by the New York City

         10  Department of Health and are non profit

         11  organizations.  The holistic approach of these

         12  programs allows for quality in the educational

         13  experiences provided for both the children and the

         14  student parents.

         15                 The university's child care programs

         16  provide a broad spectrum of developmental

         17  experiences for children with a strong emphasis on

         18  parental involvement.  The programs aim to improve

         19  the quality of life, both for children and their

         20  families by providing an array of services that

         21  include parenting workshops, parent teacher

         22  conferences, as well as health resource referrals.

         23                 CUNY child care centers not only

         24  serve children and their parents, but also train

         25  future early childhood professionals. Collaborative
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          2  efforts between CUNY child care programs and college

          3  academic units strengthen the education of

          4  undergraduate and graduate students.  Child care

          5  centers serve many aspects of this CUNY community.

          6  They serve our students, their children, and future

          7  generations of educators.  All of the CUNY child

          8  care centers place particular emphasis on providing

          9  multi- cultural environments which promote the

         10  strength and value of human services --  diversity.

         11  I had the opportunity to spend time with the

         12  directors of CUNY's child care centers and they are

         13  a dynamic and talented group of professionals who

         14  are passionate about early childhood education.  The

         15  work and qualifications of our directors have been

         16  recognized nationally as many have held important

         17  positions in national organizations.  CUNY has begun

         18  an in depth assessment of all it's child care

         19  centers to include it's programs, it's services and

         20  physical facilities.  We look forward to providing

         21  you a copy of this in depth report when it is

         22  completed. The amount of funding available to CUNY

         23  for child care programs is, as you stated earlier,

         24  $6.4 million dollars.  Of this amount, the

         25  university receives $3.5 million in Federal funds
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          2  administered through the New York State Office of

          3  Children and Family Services. $2.9 million is

          4  allocated from State and City tax levy funds.  The

          5  City portion is $500 thousand dollars and has

          6  remained unchanged for the past twenty plus years.

          7  All of this funding goes toward providing high

          8  quality child care services at a drastically reduced

          9  rate to CUNY students.  Now, today, I ask for the

         10  City Council support in continuing their efforts to

         11  improve and support our child care centers. But,

         12  additionally, I ask you to consider expanding and

         13  enriching our services by providing and investing a

         14  total of one million dollars in CUNY child care

         15  centers per year. Later, you will hear from these

         16  expert panelists here who will share with you

         17  stories about their child care centers and some of

         18  the great things that they are doing.  Additionally,

         19  we have on our staff a young lady, who recently

         20  joined us, by the name of Sherry Cleary, who is a

         21  national leader on child care services.  Sherry is

         22  not listed as a presenter today, but can answer

         23  questions if you elect to hear from her.  She is

         24  here in the audience today and if I may ask Sherry

         25  if she will stand so they will recognize who you
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          2  are.  Thank you very much.  As identified earlier,

          3  we have with us today, Janet McIntosh, Director of

          4  the Ella Baker/Charles Romain Child Development

          5  Center at Medgar Evers College, Heather Brown,

          6  Director of the Childhood Learning Center at

          7  LaGuardia Community College.  Kerry-Ann Pieters,

          8  student parent and student leader from Medgar Evers

          9  College.  Thank you for joining me.  These are our

         10  panel experts and may I turn it over to them?

         11                 MS. MCINTOSH: Good afternoon.  My

         12  name is Janet McIntosh and I am the Director at the

         13  child care center, Ella Baker/Charles Romain Child

         14  Development Center of Medgar Evers College.  I am

         15  here today to share my experience with you as a

         16  former student parent at Medgar Evers College.  When

         17  I first started attending college, there were no

         18  child care services being offered.  The child care

         19  center was later created as a result of students

         20  seeing the need and having their voices heard.

         21                 As a student, I was blessed to attend

         22  an institution where faculty staff and students

         23  truly treated each other as family.  Members of my

         24  Medgar Evers College family all assisted me by

         25  watching my daughter while I attended classes.  Once
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          2  child care became available, it allowed me to focus

          3  on my studies without having to worry about imposing

          4  on others to care for my daughter while in class.  I

          5  was also able to become my involved in college life.

          6                 I sit here before you today a proud

          7  CUNY and CUNY child care  --  a proud product of

          8  CUNY and CUNY child care.  I am proud to say my

          9  daughter attends Medgar Evers College and my

         10  granddaughter will be enrolled in our child care

         11  center in the fall.

         12                 As the Director of the child care

         13  center at Medgar Evers College and Chair of the CUNY

         14  Child Care Council, I want to share with you what

         15  our CUNY  --  CUNY's child care centers not only

         16  provide a safe, loving, nurturing environment for

         17  our young children, but we also rank high across the

         18  nation when it comes to quality.  We offer high

         19  quality programs with educational components that

         20  prepare our children for their transition to

         21  elementary school.  I recently met a former student

         22  parent from Medgar who is now a registered nurse and

         23  she shared with me that her daughter is now in

         24  medical school.  This is only one of the many

         25  success stories that can be shared about quality
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          2  child care programs in CUNY.

          3                 Ladies and gentlemen, had it not been

          4  for CUNY child care, I would not be able to complete

          5  my last semester at Medgar, obtain my bachelor's

          6  degree, climb the ladder of success and be able to

          7  return to Medgar and give back that which was given

          8  to me. Thank you.

          9                 MS. BROWN: Good afternoon Chairman

         10  Barron and distinguished members of the Higher

         11  Education Committee.  My name is Heather Brown and I

         12  am the Associate Director of LaGuardia Community

         13  College Early Childhood Learning Center programs.  I

         14  am also the Public Policy Chair of the Child Care

         15  Council at CUNY.

         16                 For early learning in New York City

         17  and within CUNY child care centers to take place, we

         18  need to continue striving toward providing the

         19  highest quality child care.  In order to provide

         20  high quality child care, CUNY child care centers

         21  need the resources to do this.

         22                 Since the city's funding of CUNY

         23  child care centers has remained level since 1985, a

         24  modest investment of $1 million dollars from the

         25  City Council could make a world of difference to the
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          2  child care centers on CUNY campuses.  This

          3  additional investment would add stability to our

          4  current funding.

          5                 At LaGuardia, additional funding from

          6  the New York City Council would enable them to fund

          7  an expansion project creating two additional

          8  classrooms.  LaGuardia and CUNY child care centers,

          9  on the whole, are often not able to meet the

         10  enrollment need of our student parents due to lack

         11  of space and funding.

         12                 Another way additional funding would

         13  assist and improve the quality of child care on CUNY

         14  campuses is the ability to hire qualified teachers.

         15  As it stands, CUNY child care centers cannot compete

         16  with the salaries and benefits the Department of

         17  Education is currently offering.  John Jay's child

         18  care center would be able to increase teacher

         19  salaries thereby increasing their chances of hiring

         20  and retaining devoted and talented certified

         21  teachers.

         22                 CUNY child care centers strive to

         23  provide high quality child care and many of our

         24  centers have become, or are in the process of

         25  becoming, nationally accredited child care centers.
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          2  Hostos Community College would use their additional

          3  funding to cover the cost of accreditation.

          4  Brooklyn College would use additional funding to

          5  increase the parent education component and expand

          6  staff development and enrichment opportunities for

          7  children.

          8                 I would like to take a moment to

          9  discuss CUNY child care's State funding which has

         10  been level since 1999.  Of great concern is what we

         11  believe is a serious threat to $1.44 million dollars

         12  in CUNY child care funding that could be included in

         13  the Flexible Fund for Family Services Block Grant to

         14  counties. Currently, the universities draw down

         15  these funds through an MOU and determine how much to

         16  allocate to each college.  For CUNY child care

         17  systems to operate effectively, this $1.44 million

         18  needs to remain with OCFS.  It is imperative to CUNY

         19  child care centers that these funds stay out of the

         20  FFS fund.  To maintain the high level of programming

         21  which is available at our centers, CUNY needs to

         22  ensure that our funding is not only stable, but

         23  increases with inflation.  CUNY child care directors

         24  are always on the lookout for additional sources of

         25  funding, such as grants, but rely on our City, State

                                                            19

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  and Federal funding as the mainstay of our operating

          3  budgets.  We need an increase in both our City and

          4  State funding as both have been level for many

          5  years.

          6                 Thank you for your time.  I

          7  appreciate the opportunity to share this information

          8  with you.

          9                 MS. PIETERS: Hello.  Good Afternoon.

         10  My name is Kerry-Ann Pieters.  I am the

         11  Correspondent Secretary for the Student Government

         12  Association, and a nursing major at Medgar Evers

         13  College.  I am also a parent with two daughters that

         14  are attending the Ella Baker/Charles Romain

         15  Development Center since the spring of 2005.  I

         16  served as a delegate for the University Student

         17  Senate, a delegate for the Space Committee  --

         18  excuse me --  a delegate for the Child Care

         19  Committee, and I also serve as an alternate for

         20  Space Reservation Committee at my institution.

         21                 Being a student leader for over five

         22  thousand students comes with a multitude of

         23  responsibilities.  It is sometimes difficult to

         24  juggle all these positions on campus, but with the

         25  help of the child care center, it makes easy for me
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          2  to be the student and experience and  --  excuse me

          3   --  executive board member.  This center has become

          4  a source of great stability, guidance and support.

          5                 About two semesters ago, I was having

          6  financial, emotional and marital problems.  I was

          7  not sure if I would be able to register for my

          8  classes, or enroll my daughters into the center, but

          9  Ms. McIntosh and her staff were there to give me

         10  words of encouragement and that everything would be

         11  all right and that I should go and register and

         12  bring my daughters to school.  I solely depend on

         13  the development center for my children.  This is

         14  were they receive the best care from the most loving

         15  and sincere teaching staff.  During my time in

         16  school, I never have to worry about what is going on

         17  with my daughters because I have  --  I know the Ms.

         18  McIntosh's staff will take the best care of them, in

         19  or out of my presence.  I would also like to say

         20  that these teachers are some of the best I have

         21  encountered and would not trade them and the

         22  relationship that my children and I have with them

         23  for anything.  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Thank all of you

         25  very much for your testimony.  I want to welcome
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          2  Council Member Miguel Martinez, from Manhattan, and

          3  Council Member Larry Seabrook, from the Bronx, and

          4  Veronica McNeil, our Finance Analyst expert, genius,

          5  bad sister.  So we just thank all of them for

          6  coming.  Thank you for your testimony.  I know that

          7  you all must have collaborated on this $1 million

          8  dollar request.  Was that a coincidence that you

          9  said $1 million dollars and you also said $1 million

         10  dollars?  Just a coincidence you think?  There was

         11  no prior discussion here?  But we want to open it up

         12  if my colleagues have any questions.  I would like

         13  to just ask you a few questions.  One, do the

         14  parents have to pay fees for the service?

         15                 MS. MCINTOSH: It is a minimal fee

         16  because of the fact that they are student parents.

         17  On most of our campuses, it is very minimal because

         18  of the fact that we do have the City and State

         19  funding.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Right.  What's

         21  minimal?

         22                 MS. BROWN: Depending on the campus,

         23  we have subsidized child care that can range from

         24  nine to twelve dollars a day, up to twelve hours of

         25  care.  But each campus has their own sliding fee
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          2  scale in place.

          3                 MS. MCINTOSH: At Medgars, it's eight

          4  dollars a day.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: How many campuses

          6    --  I think all of the campuses have child care

          7  except for maybe York  -- is that accurate?

          8                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: York just

          9  opened up one.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: York does.

         11                 MS. BROWN: We have eighteen center

         12  based child care centers and then York will be

         13  coming on board.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: What would the

         15  cost be on each campus  --  do you have an idea to

         16  run an adequate child care service  --  and if you

         17  don't have it that's all right maybe you could get

         18  that to us.

         19                 MS. BROWN:  I guess we will have to

         20  get back to you but it also depends on how many

         21  children you would have at your center because every

         22  center has different amounts of children.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: If you had to

         24  take care of all of the needs of child care at CUNY,

         25  what would that be?  What would the cost look like?
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          2                   VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE:  That's what

          3  we will look at what the needs are for the entire

          4  system.  We currently have, as you stated earlier

          5  about 1,200 students now on, or children on a

          6  waiting list.  We don't have space to put them  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Do you have any

          8  way  --  I'm sorry to cut you off.  Do you want to

          9  say something else?

         10                 VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE: No. That's

         11  fine.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Do you have any

         13  way to determine how many students may not be on a

         14  waiting list but really still are in need of

         15  services, but may have said look 1,200 on a waiting

         16  list, forget it, let me just find some other way to

         17  handle this.  Because when I hear a quarter of the

         18  children, 25 percent of the students have children

         19  which could be if there are four hundred some odd

         20  thousand students in CUNY that could be a hundred

         21  thousand students.  And let's say some of them have

         22  older children that may not be in need of day care

         23  or child care services so you take them out, but I'm

         24  just want to get a real picture of the situation.

         25  If we can determine some kind of way that how many
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          2  just actually say yes I have that need but twelve

          3  hundred people let me just figure out something

          4  else.

          5                 VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE: Again, that

          6  will be part of the assessment report because that

          7  is one of the questions we ask ourselves in terms of

          8  we know we have x number of students on a waiting

          9  list, but how many other students just don't bother

         10  because they know there is a waiting list.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Right.  That

         12  would be important to know.

         13                 VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE: So we will

         14  have that information.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Could the

         16  community utilize the day care services or it is

         17  just for CUNY students?

         18                 MS. BROWN: Not at this time.  We are

         19  just introducing staff and faculty to be able to use

         20  our centers when we have space available.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Speaking of staff

         22  and faculty, do they use the day care center?

         23                 MS. BROWN: Well, we just started --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Be careful with

         25  that one, see. (laughter)
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          2                 MS. BROWN: We just started  --  we

          3  piloted a program in the fall in our college.

          4  LaGuardia was the first college to submit an RFP to

          5  CUNY Central to provide staff and faculty child care

          6  to the staff and faculty at LaGuardia.  So we are

          7  kind of like the test case.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Any weekend child

          9  care services?

         10                 MS. BROWN: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Yes. Oh you do

         12  have weekend child care services as well.

         13                 MS. MCINTOSH: At Medgar, we are

         14  currently registering students for this semester and

         15  already we have lists -  right now the last I

         16  checked we had about ten students who were already

         17  registering their children for Saturday. And that is

         18  going to get bigger.

         19                 MS. BROWN: You know our goal is to be

         20  a real support for student parents and part of that

         21  is being available  -- providing child care all the

         22  days that the college is open and looking at all

         23  areas of students, whether it be daytime students,

         24  evening students, weekend students, so you know I

         25  can only talk from my own campus, our child care
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          2  center is open seventy seven and one half hours a

          3  week to me the needs of our students.  So we are

          4  open from 7:30 in the morning until ten o'clock or

          5  eleven o'clock at night and on Saturdays from nine

          6  to three.  So we really try to capture and support

          7  as many students as we can.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: See I had to

          9  check with my real brain.  See I act like I am smart

         10  but we are very, very concerned about this issue.

         11  We will be speaking to CUNY administration.  Council

         12  Member Martinez, you had a question?  By all means.

         13  I am finished.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you

         15  Mr. Chair.  What are the age range of the children

         16  at the CUNY day care centers?

         17                 MS. MCINTOSH: It varies on different

         18  campuses because some campuses have infant- toddler

         19  programs.  At Medgars campus, we have from age three

         20  to age twelve.  We have an after school program.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: What about

         22  in general Vice Chancellor?

         23                 VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE: In general, it

         24  is up and down on the scale because it does depend

         25  on the needs of the student in a particular service
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          2  area.  It may vary, it will vary, from Medgars to

          3  the Bronx.  I mean you are going to have different

          4  needs.  So we try to cater to what the needs of the

          5  community are.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Has there

          7  been an attempt, for example, I know that the

          8  Council, and this is important here Mr. Chair

          9  because as we move forward with our budget process

         10  and our budget priorities, we started it last year

         11  where we put monies for universal Pre- K.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Right.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:

         14  Unfortunately, or fortunately, depending on which

         15  way you want to see it, all of that money was used

         16  for public school system.  In my district, for

         17  example, I will use it as an example, most of the

         18  Pre- K programs are housed outside of the public

         19  school system because of the overcrowding in our

         20  public schools.  We don't have the space.  So, my

         21  thinking is, is there any linkage?  Is there any

         22  collaboration between CUNY and ACS in terms of

         23  universal Pre- K dollars and even day care dollars

         24  that could be connected to CUNY.  Because I know

         25  everything has to do with economics in terms of the
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          2  staffing, and having the resources available to

          3  provide the amount of day care services we need.

          4  So, does CUNY participate or is there any thinking

          5  of CUNY collaborating with the Department of

          6  Children Services for the universal Pre- K dollars

          7  and for day care dollars?

          8                 MS. BROWN:  Well, seven of our on-

          9  campus child care centers are UPK CBO providers.  We

         10  also do accept vouchers from DSS, ACD, so if we do

         11  get children who are  --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  What do you

         13  mean by CBO providers?

         14                 MS. BROWN: Community Based

         15  Organization.

         16                 So each year when the RFP comes out

         17  for universal Pre- K, community based organizations

         18  are eligible to apply to become a universal Pre- K

         19  site.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Yes.

         21                 MS. BROWN: So seven of our centers

         22  have been accepted and have been providing  --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Do you know

         24  which centers are those?

         25                 MS. BROWN: Hostos, Bronx Community
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          2  College, LaGuardia, Staten Island, that's four.

          3  Medgars, that's five.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: So, in

          5  essence, these are separate entity CBO's that are

          6  housed within the CUNY campus providing the  --

          7                 MS. BROWN: Well, we are considered a

          8  CBO. Like LaGuardia Community College Early

          9  Childhood Learning Center is considered a CBO.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Okay.  That

         11  is an important distinction.  That is what I want to

         12  get at.  It's the university itself.  No.

         13                 MS. BROWN: The child care center is

         14  the CBO on the campus.  Each child care center is

         15  it's own entity.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: It's a

         17  separate entity.  A non- profit entity.

         18                 MS. BROWN: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: And there

         20  are only seven of those within CUNY.

         21                 MS. BROWN: That have UPK.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: That have

         23  the UPK. Okay.

         24                 MR. VITERI: Excuse me Councilman.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Before you do
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          2  that, if you could just let the Counsellor swear you

          3  in.  We have to make sure you tell them the truth.

          4  You see this is very important.

          5                 MR. VITERI: Which hand?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: The right hand.

          7                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Do you

          8  swear that the testimony that you are about to give

          9  is truthful and accurate?

         10                 MR. VITERI: Yes, I do.

         11                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Please

         12  identify yourself for the record before you answer

         13  the question.

         14                 MR: VITERI: My name is Jorge Saenz De

         15  Viteri.  I am the Executive Director for Bronx

         16  Community College Child Development Center.  I would

         17  just like to elaborate on what my colleague here is

         18  explaining.  All the CUNY campus child care programs

         19  are not- for- profit organizations.  So we are

         20  considered a CBO.  We all have the opportunity to

         21  contract with the Department of Education to provide

         22  universal Pre- K services.  Again, that is an

         23  opportunity that each region determines whether they

         24  decide to contract with us or not.  Fortunately,

         25  seven of our campuses have contracts with the
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          2  Department of Education.  Currently, like we heard

          3  in the previous room, there are discussions around

          4  the fact of how you contract with the CBO's.  That

          5  is something that is very concerning to us because

          6  this adds an additional source of revenue to be able

          7  to subsidize parent fees.  I know the Chair had

          8  asked about what is the sliding  --  you know what

          9  is the fee and it varies by campus.  Each

         10  individual, depending on the various funding streams

         11  that that center is able to generate and capture,

         12  will be able to say have a parent not going to pay

         13  anywhere between one dollar to even two  --  the

         14  market costs of child care which is currently at the

         15  State level at $180 dollars which we as early care

         16  and education advocates find that not sufficient to

         17  provide the high quality early care and education

         18  services in all delivery systems.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: So from

         20  those subsidies, for example, how much is dedicated,

         21  for example, Medgar Evers  -- your from Bronx

         22  Community  --  or I don't remember if it's standard

         23  or if it's also varies by campus, but from the

         24  student activity fees, I remember there was

         25  percentage that used to go to day care.
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          2                 MR. VITERI: That varies depending on

          3  each campus depending on student government and

          4  itself and the allocation, whether it's a part- time

          5  student or a full- time student.  I know that there

          6  is a campus, one or two campuses, that actually

          7  don't have that as part of their revenue.  Going

          8  back to one of your questions regarding ACS, ACD,

          9  you know, fortunately, in my campus, I am able to

         10  look at the revenue streams that are available to

         11  students.  So, though I am not a fully funded

         12  program from ACD, I am able to accept a voucher, an

         13  HRA voucher and many of my colleagues here are able

         14  to do that to help subsidize parents in terms of

         15  providing high quality early care and education

         16  services.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: And when you

         18  do these subsidies, these subsidies are directly for

         19  children of students of CUNY, right? Not outside.

         20                 MR. VITERI: Right.  We are currently

         21  contract, only contracts, therefore, the most recent

         22    --  that faculty  --  that is campus by campus.

         23  That's really, you know, not every campus is able to

         24  do that.  The goal of this opportunity is not to be

         25  able to displace students.  It is just to make us,
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          2  as child care centers within the CUNY system, to

          3  make us a financially viable.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Got it.

          5  Thank you Mr. Chair. I know that day care centers in

          6  many of the CUNY campuses are always looked as

          7  priorities by students to maintain open and usually

          8  when there are issues of budget cuts and so forth,

          9  it is an issue that always comes up, and I know that

         10  with the many changes. I would just ask one last

         11  question.  How many --  do we have more child care

         12  at the community college level than at the senior

         13  college level?

         14                 MR. VITERI: That is something you

         15  have to do in terms of going back to an assessment.

         16  I think that it varies by facility.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: No, no, no.

         18  My question is, do we have more day care services

         19  being provided at the community college as opposed

         20  to the senior college?  We should have those

         21  numbers.

         22                 VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE: Six community

         23  colleges and --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: I cannot

         25  hear you Deputy -- I mean Vice Chancellor.
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          2                 VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE: We have six

          3  community colleges and five of them have day care

          4  centers.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Any senior

          6  colleges?

          7                 VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE: They all have

          8  day care centers, except one.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: All of our

         10  senior colleges have day care centers?

         11                 VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE: Except one.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Oh, I was

         13  under the  --  I thought it was the opposite.  Thank

         14  you, Mr. Chair.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

         16  much for your testimony and we will continue with

         17  the next panel.

         18                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Jennifer

         19  Jackson, Carmen Malgieri, Susana Davila, Jennifer

         20  Lunin, Betsaida Velez, Betty Pearsall.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Did you bring the

         22  child to the hearing to let us know that there is a

         23  real need for child care services because there

         24  wasn't a center for her to stay in.  Are you playing

         25  on our bleeding hearts?  Is that the purpose of
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          2  that? Because it is working.  I feel so bad.  What's

          3  her name?

          4                 MS. VELEZ: Syra Velez

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Syra Velez?  Oh,

          6  hi Syra.

          7                 MS. VELEZ: Say hi.  I'm sorry.  She

          8  is a little tired.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: I just like

         10  reactions.  That's all.  When they don't respond,

         11  that's not good.  But as long as you get a response,

         12  that is a very good thing.  What did she do?  Did

         13  she stick her tongue out?  Where she at?  I ain't

         14  afraid of her. (laughter)  Take that off the camera.

         15    Not only did I fight the Commissioner, I had to

         16  fight a little child and the child care services.

         17  Oh man, I am in trouble.  All right.

         18                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Would you

         19  please raise your right hands.  Do you swear that

         20  the testimony that you are about to give today is

         21  truthful and accurate?

         22                 MS. JACKSON: Yes

         23                 MS. MALGIERI: Yes

         24                 MS. DAVILA: Yes

         25                 MS. LUNIN: Yes
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          2                 MS. VELEZ: Yes

          3                 MS. PEARSALL: Yes.

          4                 (Witnesses sworn.)

          5                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Okay.  You

          6  may begin. Please identify yourself for the record

          7  before you begin your testimony.

          8                 MS. PEARSALL: Good afternoon

          9  Councilman Barron, members of the City Council of

         10  Higher Education Committee, Vice Chancellor Moore

         11  and guests, my name is Betty Pearsall.  It is my

         12  honor to serve as the Director of new child care

         13  facility at York College that is located on the site

         14  of the historic St. Monica's Church in Jamaica.

         15                 With the opening of the York College

         16  Child and Family Center, York College will join the

         17  17 other CUNY colleges that provide on campus child

         18  care programs for CUNY student parents.

         19                 The facade of the former St. Monica's

         20  Catholic Church, which was awarded landmark status

         21  by New York City, has been incorporated into the

         22  design of the new center which will enroll

         23  approximately 100 children of York College student

         24  parents in infant- toddler preschool and after

         25  school programs. Professional staff consisting of
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          2  certified teachers, assistant teachers, and aides

          3  will offer early childhood education and child care

          4  in a multi- cultural environment.

          5                 Support for student parents in their

          6  dual roles will also be focus of the York College

          7  Child and Family Center.  A parent resource room

          8  offering a lending library, a computer area and a

          9  lounge will be available to student parents with a

         10  child enrolled in the center.  In addition, we plan

         11  to collaborate with the Teacher Education Department

         12  to establish interactions that will benefit pre-

         13  service teachers as well as families enrolled in the

         14  center.

         15                 The development and construction of

         16  the center has been a long and difficult process

         17  involving construction delays, design revisions and,

         18  of course, funding issues.  The initial funding for

         19  construction achieved through the efforts of our

         20  Local, State and City legislators, the New York

         21  State Legislature, CUNY and York administrations has

         22  been stretched to cover all of the anticipated and

         23  unanticipated expenses involved in the construction

         24  of the new center.  Now, we face the need for

         25  funding to support the program in the new facility.
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          2  Although we plan to seek additional funding from

          3  various sources, we will need a base of funding from

          4  the allocations that CUNY receives for campus child

          5  care programs.

          6                 As we move forward to begin the new

          7  program at the York College Child and Family Center,

          8  we ask the City Council to support our vision of a

          9  quality child care and early childhood education

         10  program for York College student parents and their

         11  families.  Thank you.

         12                 MS. JACKSON: Good afternoon Chairman

         13  Barron and distinguished members of the Higher

         14  Education Committee.  Hello. My name is Jennifer

         15  Jackson.  I am currently an undergraduate student

         16  attending Brooklyn College.  My daughter, Roshanna

         17  Jackson, has been attending the ECC since 2004.

         18                 As an immigrant who is in the lower

         19  socio- economic group and a single mother, I was

         20  working for just over the minimum wage and found it

         21  difficult to make ends meet.  I knew I had to do

         22  something to change my situation in order to secure

         23  a future for myself and my daughter.

         24                 I had two choices.  One, to continue

         25  at my present job and hope to ascend the ranks where
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          2  I would receive a better pay while sacrificing the

          3  joys of parenting and placing my child in a less

          4  than adequate child care.  Or, to return to college

          5  and pave a better future for myself and my wonderful

          6  daughter.  Knowing that college was the only way

          7  out, as a single parent, this option came with its

          8  own set of worries.  How was I going to pay for

          9  college and child care?  Would I have to continue in

         10  my present job until I graduate, and if so, how many

         11  classes would I be able to take and when would I

         12  really graduate?  These questions plagued my mind

         13  but soon were dispelled when my daughter was

         14  enrolled in the Brooklyn College Early Childhood

         15  Center.

         16                 I must admit, when my daughter

         17  entered the program, I was apprehensive because of

         18  my previous experiences with other daycare services.

         19    On her first day, I sat in the office.  I told the

         20  Director that I was nervous.  Her reply was to give

         21  the teachers two weeks and if I was not satisfied, I

         22  could take her out of the program.  That was in

         23  September 2004.  She is now enrolled in the

         24  neighborhood public school and still attends the ECC

         25  after school program.
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          2                 Having my daughter enrolled in the

          3  ECC program has given me peace of mind.  Knowing

          4  that my most precious gift is being cared for in a

          5  clean, safe environment that offers a

          6  developmentally appropriate curriculum makes me

          7  ecstatic and grateful.  Because of this, I can

          8  really concentrate on my studies. This comfort has

          9  also allowed me to do two things.  First, because I

         10  was eligible for many of the grants campus child

         11  care offered, my financial worries of paying for

         12  child care were over because it was now affordable.

         13  Secondly, I was able to quit my job which gave me

         14  the ability to take more classes.  This has given me

         15  the opportunity to progress through college at a

         16  faster pace.  Now I am happy to say that I will be

         17  graduating this fall, and I know it would not have

         18  been possible without affordable campus child care.

         19  Thank you.

         20                 MS. VELEZ: Good afternoon Councilor

         21  Barron and ladies.  My name is Betsaida Velez and I

         22  am attending the City College of New York.  I really

         23  never thought about going --  I am not going to read

         24  my essay.  I am just going to  --  I never really

         25  thought about going to college much when I was
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          2  younger.  I always thought I knew what I wanted to

          3  do, and I don't need college but when I got

          4  pregnant, my thoughts changed.  I had to do

          5  something better with myself.  I couldn't  --  I

          6  wanted to be a role model to my daughter and the

          7  only thing I could of thought about was doing

          8  something positive and concrete which is going to

          9  college. You know, laying a solid foundation for

         10  myself. If I was going to encourage her, of course,

         11  to go to college.  But, I worried about who was

         12  going to take care of my child because I am a single

         13  parent, and I don't have family near by.

         14                 So I went to City College.  They

         15  encouraged me to go to BMCC because it's a two year

         16  process and I was just interested in getting my

         17  associate's degree.  So, in any event, in the fall

         18  of 2003, I enrolled myself in BMCC, into the writing

         19  and literature program, and I had a lot of trouble

         20  looking for child care because --  First, I mean the

         21  first place I went to was child care and I was very

         22  excited because I found out they had child care.

         23  That's why also I went there.  But they took the

         24  children in at two and up and my daughter was only

         25  one years old at the time.  So, the first year I
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          2  enrolled myself but I put myself on that waiting

          3  list that they were talking about earlier.  I mean I

          4  figured keep my fingers crossed and hope they call

          5  me.  A year later, right before she turned two, they

          6  ended up calling me and I jumped at the opportunity.

          7    But more so because I was, as a student, I

          8  couldn't focus on my studies.  I had to bring her to

          9  class with me.  I had to miss days or whatever the

         10  case was.  But anyway, so they took me into the

         11  program and I was really excited and it was very

         12  affordable.  I was glad that I only had to pay two

         13  dollars a week for her considering my financial

         14  situation.  So that helped me once I got situated at

         15  BMCC with child care, I was better able to focus on

         16  my studies. I'm doing very, very well.  I was aiming

         17  at just getting an Associate's degree but then I  --

         18  I'm sorry  -- okay, so, I put her into the program,

         19  and I was comfortable because as soon as we walked

         20  through the door they interviewed us.  The teachers

         21  were very, very caring and loving and I knew that

         22  this was a place for her only because I saw the way

         23  she reacted and the way I felt. It made life easier

         24  for me because I didn't have to run around to the

         25  babysitter trying to get her ready, you know drop
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          2  her off, go from place to place.  I didn't have to

          3  spend money, extra money on commuting.  Also, the

          4  lunches and everything was (sic) included. I didn't

          5  have to pay extra money for that.  I was able to go

          6  and see my daughter in, you know, in activities.

          7  And also she was in an environment where she was

          8  learning.  So not only was I getting an education,

          9  which was important for me, but I was more important

         10  about her not being in front of a tv all day in a

         11  babysitter's, you know, in someone's house not

         12  getting any type of curriculum.

         13                 So, in any event, in this

         14  environment, my daughter learned many things.  She

         15  was very excited to go to school.  She wanted to go

         16  on weekends too.  I just couldn't take her on

         17  weekends because they weren't open on weekends.

         18  Anyway, just through that whole process, it made

         19  life easier for me.  I didn't have to pay extra

         20  money out of my pocket.  She was being educated and

         21  I ended up graduating with honors.

         22                 From there I decided, well you know

         23  what, this isn't enough for me.  Now I really want

         24  more.  So, I ended up going to another CUNY campus,

         25  which was City College, and they have child care as
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          2  well.  So it was the next level.  I enrolled her

          3  there and now she is attending the Pre- K program

          4  which I am really excited about because I don't have

          5  to take her from school to school for child care.

          6                 I'm still in City College and I have

          7  been a full- time student just struggling to make it

          8  through, and child care has helped me pretty much

          9  just providing for her, watching her while I'm in

         10  school, and educating her.  I am doing very well.  I

         11  am now a double major graduating in the fall as well

         12  with a 3.82 average, and so I just wanted to say I'm

         13  thankful for all the support that the CUNY

         14  university has given me in my experience with child

         15  care. Thank you.

         16                 MS. LUNIN: Hi.  My name is Jennifer

         17  Lunin.  Good afternoon Chairman Barron and

         18  distinguished members of the Higher Education

         19  Committee.  I am a recent graduate of LaGuardia

         20  Community College.  I now --  okay, sorry. I now

         21  have an Associate's degree in Early Child

         22  Development.

         23                 Earning my Associate's degree has

         24  been a very difficult battle with lots of twists and

         25  turns.  What empowered me to go on was knowing that
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          2  at the end of this road, I would be completing my

          3  degree in my chosen field.  It was important to me

          4  to complete my degree so that I could continue my

          5  work in early childhood while becoming more

          6  knowledgeable in my field.  Attaining my degree

          7  strengthened my ability as a preschool educator.  I

          8  am very passionate about early childhood because we

          9  are teaching future generations to come.

         10                 In the Fall of 2005, I will be at an

         11  internship at LaGuardia Community College Early

         12  Childhood Learning Center.  I interned in two

         13  classrooms and knew that this was a place I wanted

         14  to work.  Especially when the center became NAEYC

         15  accredited.  This was important to me because the

         16  center was providing the best opportunities and met

         17  national standards.

         18                 In the Fall of 2006, I joined the

         19  staff at LaGuardia Community College Early Childhood

         20  Learning Center as a part- time, evening, Assistant

         21  Teacher.  I worked with children ages three through

         22  nine.  For the last two semesters, I have been

         23  working during the day with the toddler program.

         24  Working with young children, I find it is vital to

         25  our society.  At Children's Center at LaGuardia, the
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          2  children are learning social, academic, cognitive,

          3  developmental and physical skills they need in order

          4  to further their academic life.  Children are not

          5  just playing and painting, but they are learning the

          6  necessary skills to become productive, successful

          7  adults.  This is why when it comes to children, I am

          8  so passionate about ensuring that all of their needs

          9  are met.  One of the highlights of my job is when I

         10  can help a child solve a problem, or learn a new

         11  skill.  When this happens and a child is able to

         12  achieve a new goal, and they come running to me to

         13  tell me about it, knowing that I have a small hand

         14  in it, makes it all worth while.

         15                 I am planning to continue my

         16  education and have been accepted and will attend

         17  City College in the upcoming semester. There I will

         18  be earning a Bachelor of Science degree in Early

         19  Childhood Education while I continue to work part-

         20  time, hopefully full- time, at the center.

         21                 Thank you for giving me the

         22  opportunity to speak with you.  I hope you will

         23  support the child care centers at CUNY with the

         24  resources at your disposal.

         25                 MS. MALGIERI: Good afternoon
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          2  Councilman Barron.  My name is Carmen Malgieri.  I

          3  am a student at Hostos Community College.  I am an

          4  accounting major.

          5                 I would first like to start by saying

          6  that I would have never have gone back to college if

          7  it was not for the Hostos Children Center being

          8  available at my disposal.  I am married.  My husband

          9  works full- time.  I do not work.  So, I really did

         10  want to go back to school and I started in the Fall

         11  of 2005, evening courses.  I put my son on a waiting

         12  list at the Children's Center and I found myself, if

         13  I only go nights I am going to be in school for five

         14  or six years at a two year college.  So when the

         15  phone call came in August of 2006, I was overwhelmed

         16  and just so happy that I was able to put my son in

         17  the program.  It gave me the opportunity to have

         18  extra study time.  It gave me the feeling that my

         19  son is going to be very well cared for.

         20                 He has excelled in the program.  I

         21  mean he knows his ABC's.  He counts to twenty.  He

         22  knows his colors, his shapes and I am just extremely

         23  proud of the teachers that have been teaching my

         24  son, and if it wasn't for the staff at Hostos

         25  Community Children's Center, my son would not have

                                                            48

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  excelled this far.

          3                 I would also like to stress that the

          4  salaries of the teachers need to be increased

          5  because if it's not for them we wouldn't have our

          6  children in these programs and it does help whether

          7  you are married, your single, on public assistance,

          8  working, non- working, we need these centers.  If we

          9  want to teach our children to go on to college and

         10  to become a success story, we need to start with

         11  ourselves, and by doing this, you know, it's also

         12  rewarding the teachers.  You are giving them a

         13  feeling of I am appreciated and I absolutely one

         14  hundred percent appreciate the staff at Hostos

         15  Community College.  Especially, Susana Davila, for

         16  all of her hard work in trying to get grants and

         17  just her vigorous and non- stopping and just long

         18  hours of working just to get grants for us.  Thank

         19  you.

         20                 MS. DAVILA: Good afternoon

         21  Councilman.  Actually, when I wrote that nice little

         22  paper about speaking, I didn't prepare anything

         23  because I was fully supporting Carmen who came along

         24  with me, but I just wanted to thank Carmen for being

         25  here because she is the one who is using the
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          2  services, and so it is really important that you

          3  hear from those parents and maybe they might be

          4  nervous in expressing how appreciative they are and

          5  how important the impact of having campus based

          6  child care is to all of them, but they stepped up on

          7  the plate today to express that the need is there.

          8                 Of course, there is a waiting list

          9  and Carmen started in my program with her other

         10  child in the evening program because we are open

         11  from 7:30 to 9:30pm.  Sometimes people don't realize

         12  that our centers are open on weekends, they are open

         13  late and we serve children anywhere from toddlers,

         14  infants and toddlers to twelve years old depending

         15  on the licenses that we carry.  My center presently

         16  has a license capacity of one hundred and thirty

         17  children.  When I started about 15 years ago, we

         18  were serving 25 children.  So we have made many,

         19  many expansions.  As Carmen said, we have done that

         20  because, myself and all of the Directors in this

         21  room work on a daily basis toward finding ways to

         22  fund their programs and not only to fund the

         23  programs, but then to maintain those wonderful

         24  programs and expansions that they get to make once

         25  those funds are no longer available.  Some of us
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          2  have a campus grant that comes from the Department

          3  of Education in Washington D.C.  Some of us have UPK

          4  grants.

          5                 Right now, as I speak, I am just

          6  thinking about my grant because I am in the middle

          7  of writing my RFP and my narrative.  It's just a

          8  constant desire and need to help our parents by

          9  providing those grants, we have more funding.  We

         10  can help our parents, and sometimes I believe that

         11  we have to let people know that when those funds are

         12  over, we want to maintain those programs and we do

         13  need more funds to maintain what we have. I now have

         14  a toddler program that services Mario, where

         15  Carmen's son is at, that has just started in the

         16  Fall and I only have twenty children and I already

         17  have a waiting list of 40 children for that program,

         18  in one semester.  So, the need is there, and it's so

         19  important that you have given this audience to be

         20  able to speak to you, and so that you can hear, and

         21  I know that maybe you don't have all the pieces of

         22  the puzzle, and there's always  --  but you are

         23  allowing us to share with us, and to help you

         24  understand better. So, that when you do go to bat

         25  for us, which I feel this is one of your intentions,
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          2  in having this forum, that you can better articulate

          3  the needs of these parents.  I just want to say that

          4  I am personally thankful.  I am not in Brooklyn, but

          5  I was born in Brooklyn.  I am personally thankful

          6  for this opportunity and I know that the people who

          7  are sitting behind me, each of them are here because

          8  they support what we do, and for me in particular,

          9  if we had additional funds, I would definitely look

         10  at my teacher salaries and my staff salaries because

         11  those salaries are really, really low.  Case in

         12  point, I pay an assistant teacher anywhere like

         13  $25,000.  I mean like what is that in New York City.

         14    With 45 percent of our salaries or more go towards

         15  rent.  And they do such an incredible job for these

         16  children.  These are women with associate's degrees

         17  or bachelor's degrees and sometimes I am almost

         18  embarrassed to not be able to provide more for my

         19  teachers, and for my staff because they do work so

         20  diligently.  We just can't pick out anyone out from

         21  the street with any degree to take care of young

         22  children who are impressionable.  They do need

         23  people who are educated and who have gone to school

         24  to provide care for early childhood education for

         25  young children.  So, I, just again, want to thank
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          2  you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Well, I want to

          4  thank all of you very much.  We do have to move on

          5  because we have other testimony, but I want to let

          6  you, the purpose of having this hearing is to hear

          7  testimony, such as yours, so that we, during this

          8  budget process, can bring that back to the City

          9  Council, and express the urgency.  I think all of

         10  you eloquently and passionately expressed it, and

         11  it's invaluable to us.  We thank you very much for

         12  your testimony.

         13                 MS. LUNIN: There is one thing that

         14  you have to understand that without CUNY child care

         15  centers in the colleges, your enrollment in colleges

         16  would be very low because these parents cannot

         17  attend college without an accurate (sic) child care

         18  center where they can have easy access to pick up

         19  their children and drop them off so they continue

         20  their education.  So, we rely on  -- they rely on

         21  this.  So, it is an extreme, vital asset that they

         22  need to keep this money going and fund it.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

         24  much.

         25                 MS. LUNIN: Your welcome.
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          2                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Dmitriy

          3  Rybitskiy.  Please raise your right hand.  Do you

          4  promise  --  do you swear that the testimony that

          5  you are about to give is truthful and accurate?

          6                 MR. RYBITSKIY: Yes.

          7                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Please

          8  state your name for the record before you begin.

          9                 MR. RYBITSKIY: Dmitriy Rybitskiy.

         10                 First of all, I just want to

         11  apologize that I don't have a written testimony

         12  prepared.  It was very short notice, but I just feel

         13  obligated to come here and express my sincere

         14  gratitude with the opportunities given to me by the

         15  CUNY system.  I also want to draw on the parallel

         16  experience that I had with CUNY and experience that

         17  my wife had with another school.

         18                 Actually, this is my second try with

         19  the CUNY school.  The first time I attended college,

         20  I stumbled, and I lost track.  I lost focus, and I

         21  ended up, effectively, dropping out with a GPA less

         22  than one.  It was 0.6.  Then I met my wife, who had

         23  a child, and my child gave me an inspiration to

         24  return to school and continue my education.

         25  However, because she was young, and both me and my
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          2  wife were attending school, there was only an option

          3  for one of us to continue education because the

          4  other one had to stay in school.  My wife attended

          5  the Fashion Institute of Technology in the City  --

          6  State University of New York.  But just to draw the

          7  parallel, that school doesn't provide any child care

          8  facilities.  So, in effect, students that want to

          9  attend that particular school, they are forced to

         10  make a decision to continue their education or to

         11  stay at home with a child.  So, we basically made a

         12  decision for her to continue school, and I switched

         13  my work schedule to the weekends, and I would stay

         14  with the child, with my daughter, at home, on the

         15  weekdays, so that she could continue.             Then

         16  when I started looking into CUNY again, I found out

         17  that my first college was actually Queens College,

         18  which does have a day care facility.  Unfortunately,

         19  they only are capable of taking potty trained

         20  children.  So, at first, I kind of despair (sic).

         21  Then I learned that LaGuardia Community College took

         22  very young children, even in diapers, and they had

         23  staff --  I think as young as one years old they

         24  would take these little kids, and then look after

         25  them the whole day including changing the diapers.
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          2  That was very encouraging, and that basically was

          3  what gave me the opportunity to return to CUNY, and

          4  to start my education again.

          5                 I am very happy to actually have

          6  graduated this summer from LaGuardia Community

          7  College.  I graduated with a Paramedic Associate's

          8  Degree with a 3.6 GPA, honors and cited three times

          9  on the dean's list.  I will not be able to come back

         10  and continue my education without the child

         11  development center being there at LaGuardia

         12  Community College.  I went from having a GPA of less

         13  than one to graduating with honors, and part of it

         14  was my daughter inspired me, but also part of it was

         15  that ability and peace of mind, and affordability of

         16  the subsidized day care facility right there on

         17  campus.  Now, not only, it was financially

         18  affordable, and I was paying far below the market

         19  price that I would pay anywhere else.  When your

         20  child is at that young age, when they are just over

         21  one, when they still are learning to use the potty

         22  and everything, it's a big peace of mind of having

         23  your child in the same building.  When there were

         24  emergencies, all I had to do was just run out the

         25  bathroom, and if she had a tantrum or something, I
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          2  was right there.  I didn't have to get on the bus,

          3  get on the train, drive to the other town, and they

          4  could get in touch with me all the time because

          5  every classroom has a phone.

          6                 On top of this, I also want to

          7  mention that it's really a superb facility that they

          8  have at LaGuardia Community College.  Even though

          9  today I am representing, actually, Queens College

         10  because I graduated and transferred over there.  I

         11  just wanted to say a few words about them because I

         12  did spend two years there.  They expose children to

         13  so many different disciplines.  My daughter was able

         14  to go and take swimming classes at the age of two

         15  which is like unbelievable.  I don't know if you

         16  know, but most of the people in New York actually

         17  don't know how to swim, and that is why there is so

         18  many  -- well I am actually a New York City 911

         19  Paramedic, and there is a lot of fatalities in the

         20  water because many people, even though this is a

         21  city on the ocean, don't know how to swim.  Okay, so

         22  LaGuardia Community College is doing a tremendous

         23  job.  You know, they take these little kids, with

         24  the little bubbles, and they put them in the

         25  swimming pool, and they have a teacher who is
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          2  training them.  So, my daughter is four, and she was

          3  swimming this summer independently.  They take them

          4  on all these trips.

          5                 So, I graduated this summer from

          6  LaGuardia Community College, and I transferred over

          7  to Queens College, and I just lucked out because, I

          8  don't know if you know, but Queens College actually

          9  has the Queens College Elementary School that they

         10  built two years ago, and my daughter got in there by

         11  lottery.  So, we continue education together, and I

         12  am able to attend the school full- time, and then

         13  when her school is over at two o'clock, I just run

         14  over the lawn and then bring her to the child

         15  development center that the college is running.  I'm

         16  continuing my degree in bio-chemistry major with

         17  biology minor. So far my grades have been good this

         18  semester, and I would not be able to continue my

         19  education without the availability of this center.

         20  The staff is very supporting, and it's just

         21  wonderful, you know, the things that they expose

         22  children to.

         23                 But one thing I want to say is that

         24  there is still a lot of room for improvement, and I

         25  think every single child development center, and
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          2  every single school can definitely use any extra

          3  funds that are available to bring it to even a

          4  higher standard.  So, I just want to express my

          5  sincere gratitude for having this opportunity given

          6  to me by the City University of New York.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Well thank you

          8  very much, and I just want to express my sincere

          9  gratitude and appreciation for you because very

         10  rarely do we see males, you know, involved in and

         11  concerned about child care as you are.  You are a

         12  proud father, and I am glad you are doing very, very

         13  well, and your testimony was special because we need

         14  to see more males, fathers, involved and concerned

         15  about child care.  You can give him a big hand.

         16  (applause)  Thank you.

         17                 This has to be the final testimony

         18  because we have to be out of here by 3:30 p.m. So we

         19  have one last  --

         20                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Annette

         21  Bergen.

         22                 Please raise your right hand.  Do you

         23  swear that the testimony that you are about to give

         24  is accurate and truthful?

         25                 MS. BERGEN: Yes I do.
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          2                 (Witness sworn.)

          3                 MS. BERGEN: I also did not prepare

          4  anything.  However, I have felt the passion having

          5  heard the people speak before me.  I started with

          6   --  I am a teacher.  I am now the Educational

          7  Director at the Childhood Development at Queens

          8  College.  When I first began, I had taught

          9  previously in the Board of Education.  I taught in

         10  the private sector, and when I came to Queens

         11  College, and, Betty Pearsall was then the Director,

         12  and she offered the salary, I thought well this

         13  better be good because the salary certainly isn't.

         14  It was quite  -- I had gone down and I thought let

         15  me see because I was a graduate of Queens College.

         16  I went for my master's at Queens College, and I felt

         17  that I am coming home. Let me see what they have

         18  done.

         19                 At the time, they didn't have a child

         20  development center.  It was about five years old

         21  when I first came.  I began and I really got hooked

         22  because I felt not only am I working with young

         23  children, which is my passion, and still is my

         24  passion, and I am still totally enthusiastic about

         25  it, but I am also serving the community by helping
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          2  the parents.  When you look at graduation and you

          3  see how many people we have helped to serve maybe

          4  the world, it is just a very wonderful feeling.  You

          5  can't really do that.  You may be helping people

          6  with their jobs if you are working at another

          7  school, but when you are working in a college

          8  community, and making it possible for them to have

          9  graduated when they otherwise may have not been able

         10  to, that is a dual service.  That's a service both

         11  to the children, for providing a quality education,

         12  but also to the parent for enabling them to do it.

         13  And we have helped see people, who otherwise never

         14  would have had an opportunity, get out into this

         15  world and really, really make a difference, not just

         16  nationwide, but probably worldwide.  And that's what

         17  hooked me into this because, although the resources

         18  aren't as good as they could be, and I'm certainly

         19  hoping that after this they will be better, it is

         20  just a feeling of really giving to the community

         21  that we do.              Also, we are an example for

         22  having learned what I did at Queens College ten

         23  years ago, actually it was about forty, and still

         24  applying what I learned at Queens College in my

         25  work.  We are setting an example also for future
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          2  students of early childhood education, of elementary

          3  education, and we are showing how very, very

          4  important, and what a wonderful thing we are doing,

          5  and how proud we are to do it, and how passionate we

          6  are to do it.  I think it is very important for

          7  colleges to set an example like that, and have

          8  excellent educators.  We have, unfortunately, had to

          9  let some wonderful educators go because they could

         10  not afford to keep doing it with the salaries that

         11  were offered.  So, hopefully this will make a

         12  difference and I thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Well we thank you

         14  very much for that testimony.  We thank all of you

         15  for your testimony.

         16                 The purpose of having this hearing is

         17  so that we can demonstrate to you our commitment to

         18  seeing to it that not only the child care centers

         19  are empowered, improved, and financed, but, also,

         20  the women's centers.  So, I think if we get a

         21  combination of those two things, between the women's

         22  centers at our previous hearing and the child care,

         23  perhaps that can really give opportunities to people

         24  who can continue, and advance in their educations so

         25  that, as you said, not only does the City benefit,

                                                            62

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  the State, the Country, but an entire world and

          3  that's our commitment.

          4                 I thank you very much and this

          5  hearing is adjourned.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 3:28 p.m.)
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